
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
IN THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN -- SOUTHERN DIVISION 

 
TINA MCPHERSON, 
 

Plaintiff, 
 

 -vs-
 

 
SUBURBAN ANN ARBOR, LLC, 
T&H TOWING AND RECOVERY, 
LLC, and 
MATTHEW JAMES FERNEY, 
 

Defendants.

 
 
 
Case No.  
Hon.  
Magistrate Judge:  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

COMPLAINT & JURY DEMAND 

 
Tina McPherson states the following claims for relief: 

 

 

Jurisdiction 

 
1. This court has jurisdiction under the Truth in Lending Act, 15 U.S.C. §1601 

et seq.; Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C.  § 1681 et seq.; Equal Credit 

Opportunity Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1691 et seq.; and Fair Debt Collection Practices 

Act, 15 U.S.C.  § 1692 et seq.  These claims arise under federal and may be 

enforced under 28 U.S.C. § 1331,1337. 

2. This court may exercise supplemental jurisdiction over the related state law 

claims arising out of the same nucleus of operative facts which give rise to the 

Federal law claims under 28 U.S.C. § 1367. 
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Parties 

3. Plaintiff to this lawsuit is Tina McPherson who resides in Ypsilanti, MI.  

4. The Defendants to this lawsuit are as follows: 

a. Suburban Ann Arbor, LLC ("Suburban"), which does business as 

“Suburban Chevrolet Cadillac,” and which is a corporation doing 

business in Michigan at 3515 Jackson Rd, Ann Arbor MI 48103, and 

whose resident agent c/o Michigan Department of State - Compliance 

Division maintains its office at 430 W. Allegan Street, 3rd Floor, 

Lansing, MI 48918, and which by statute and condition of licensing, 

may be served through the Michigan Department of State, Compliance 

Division, 3rd Floor -- Treasury Building, 430 W. Allegan Street, 

Lansing, MI 48918. 

b. T&H Towing and Recovery, LLC (“T&H”) which is a Michigan 

Company. 

c. Matthew James Ferney (“Mr. Ferney”), a Michigan Resident and the 

owner and operator of T&H Towing and Recovery, LLC. 

5. At all relevant times Suburban -- in the ordinary course of its business -- 

operated a motor vehicle sales establishment which in the ordinary course of 

business sold motor vehicles to consumers like Mrs. McPherson. 
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At all relevant times T&H and Mr. Ferney -- in the ordinary course of its 

business – engaged in the activities of repossessing vehicles from consumers 

as a “recovery” business and “debt collector” for purposes of 15 U.S.C.  § 

1692f(6). 

Venue 

6. The transactions and occurrences which give rise to this action occurred in 

Washtenaw County, Michigan. 

7. Mrs. McPherson is a citizen of the State of Michigan and resides in 

Washtenaw County. 

8. Venue is proper in the Eastern District of Michigan. 

Introduction 

9. This case arises out of a common dealer scam known as “Yo-Yo Sales” or 

“Spot Delivery” of vehicles. 

10. A “Yo-Yo” sale occurs when a dealer sells a car to a consumer under an 

installment sale contract but later demands that the consumer return the 

vehicle because the dealer claims that financing fell through. In some extreme 

cases, the dealer will reclaim the vehicle repossession, threat of arrest or 

tricking the consumer into returning the vehicle to the dealer. 

11. Once the dealer has retaken the vehicle, the consumer is left in a vulnerable 

position with no car, no money for a down payment, and no trade in vehicle. 

The dealer takes advantage of this compromised position – one of the dealer’s 
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own making – to pressure the consumer into a new agreement.  That new 

agreement might include less favorable terms, a vehicle of lesser value, or 

requiring a cosigner. 

12. If the dealer cannot secure the terms they demand, it simply cancels the 

consumer’s deal without returning the client’s down payment or trade in. 

13. No matter what the dealer chooses to demand or provide to the consumer, the 

dealership treats its binding contractual obligations with the consumer as 

conditional, hinging upon the dealer’s ability to resell the fully-executed 

installment contract it has with the consumer on terms that the dealer – in its 

own discretion – deems to be acceptable to it alone. 

14. At the time of the sale, the dealer knows that it intends to retake the vehicle if 

the dealer cannot sell the installment contract for the dealer’s desired price but 

withholds this information from the consumer and does not make disclosures 

appropriate to conditional terms of credit. 

15. Consistent with this view of the conditional nature of the sale, dealers treat re- 

takings of these vehicles as falling within the dealers’ legal rights because they 

do not view the sale as complete or binding until the dealer has successfully 

sold the installment contract to a finance company -- even though the 

statutorily required disclosures provide no such information to consumers. 
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16. For purposes of these fraudulent transactions, dealers effectively represent to 

consumers that these deals are complete at the time of the transaction, 

provided the vehicle, all necessary paperwork, and all the trappings of 

ownership. Specifically, 

a. the credit obligations under which the consumers agree to pay for these 

vehicles are unconditional in nature and fully executed; 

b. all required insurance is secured and paid for by the consumer; 

c. the dealer prepares and executes an application for title, certifying to 

the secretary of state under penalty of perjury that it has delivered the 

vehicle to the consumer and will apply for title; and 

d. any necessary down payment or trade in is provided to the consumer. 

17. The State of Michigan deems vehicle transactions to be complete upon 

delivery of the vehicle and execution of the sale documents.  Although a 

transfer of title to a vehicle generally indicates a transfer of ownership, under 

the motor vehicle code, MCL 257.1et seq., one need not transfer title to 

transfer ownership. See Perry v. Golling Chrysler, 477 Mich. 62, 65 (Mich. 

2007); Botsford General Hosp v Citizens Ins. Co., 195 Mich. App. 127, 133-

134 (1992); Whitcraft v Wolfe, 148 Mich App 40, 53 (1985). 
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18. The state of Michigan also views “Yo-Yo” sales or “Spot Deliveries” as an 

illegal practice, having promulgated a number of opinion letters, manuals and 

warnings. 

19. Notwithstanding the clear directives concerning the finality of a sale once the 

dealer has executed sale documents with the consumer, dealers who engage 

in “Yo-Yo” scams view all sales transactions as inchoate and conditional for 

their own purposes. 

20. Specifically, it is the purpose of the Truth in Lending Act (TILA), 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1601 et seq. to assure a meaningful disclosure of credit terms so that the 

consumer will be able to compare more readily the various credit terms 

available to him and avoid the uninformed use of credit, and to protect the 

consumer against inaccurate and unfair practices involving credit transactions. 

Most importantly, meaningful and timely disclosures of the terms of financing 

provides consumers with knowledge of the "true" cost of credit prior to 

consummation, thereby providing market mechanisms for increased 

competition.   For purposes of the act, the TILA specifically requires 

disclosure by the creditor (car dealer) if the transaction will be subject to a 

demand feature, whereby the dealer my unilaterally demand payment or 

retake the vehicle. 12 CFR 226.18(h) and all disclosures must be meaningful, 

clear and conspicuous. Illusory disclosures will not suffice. 
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21. It is the function of the ECOA to provide consumers with clear and 

unambiguous notice of whether or not credit has been extended, and if such 

credit is denied or revoked, to inform the consumer of the reasons for denial. 

This function furthers the statute’s salutary purpose of eliminating 

discriminatory lending practices through a record-keeping process.  In so 

doing, the statute mandates a complete documentary trail establishing, when 

and why credit is denied. 

22. Dealers who are skilled in the practice may retrieve the customer several 

times, wearing down the consumer’s sales resistance to these pressure tactics, 

until the dealer has maximized his profits from the consumer.  All the while 

the dealer retains the full value of any down payment or trade in.  Thus, the 

consumer is held captive to the seller and the terms which the dealer 

prescribes. 

23. As a result of this practice, the informed negotiation process mandated by 

TILA is supplanted in favor of a dealer-controlled, high pressure sales ploy. 

In addition to the adverse effects that this fraud works upon individual 

consumers, the unredressed concealment of the “actual” terms of credit fosters 

anti-competitive practices in the auto industry and provides further incentives 

for artificially increased costs of credit. 
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24. In these scams, dealer may provide the consumer with numerous disclosures 

of the cost of credit, but only the dealer knows which terms he will ultimately 

accept as binding.  The improper use of the TILA disclosures combined with 

contradictory contractual language, becomes a tool for entrapping the 

consumer, and denying him the ability to shop for credit.  Effectively, this 

practice turns the TILA disclosures into a tool of fraud, eviscerating the 

meaningful disclosures required by TILA. 

25. These frauds are facilitated through the knowing presentation of false 

transactions which they frequently engaged in and improve consumer's 

confidence in these financial transactions. 

26. By the same token, the firm requirements of the ECOA which mandate that a 

credit decision be made by the Dealer within 30 days of receiving a complete 

application, and that the dealer provide an accurate notice of what the credit 

decision was. 

27. The entirety of this practice is predicated upon false representations to the 

consumer about the nature of the transaction/s he will be entering into, the 

dealer's efforts to obtain financing, the conditions of the extension of credit, 

the consumer's rights following the execution of unconditional credit, and the 

right of the dealer to rescind a fully executed transaction. 
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28. These practices are further supported through the cooperation and assistance 

of towing and recovery companies who assist the dealers in retaking the cars 

which are the lawful property to the consumers, and for which the dealers have 

no legal right to possession.  

29. Filed supplementary to the violations of the TILA are plaintiff’s claims arising 

out of defendant’s violations of various Michigan statutes, all arising from the 

same nucleus of operative facts. 

General Allegations 

30. On July 8, 2020, Tina McPherson walked into Suburban Ann Arbor, LLC 

(“Suburban”) in Ann Arbor, MI to purchase a vehicle and spoke to salesman 

Charles Parker (“Mr. Parker”). 

31. Mrs. McPherson told Mr. Parker she was interested in a vehicle that had third-

row seating. 

32. Mrs. McPherson told Mr. Parker that she could only make a $1,000.00 down 

payment. 

33. Mr. Parker told Mrs. McPherson that he had a suitable SUV for her but that 

she could not see it due to COVID and pandemic cleaning protocols.   

34. Mr. Parker told Mrs. McPherson that she could apply then and there, and that 

in the meantime the dealership would clean the vehicle and that the dealership 

would call her the next day when the vehicle was ready for her to pick up. 
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35. That same day, Mrs. McPherson applied for financing to purchase a used 2017 

Dodge Durango.  

36. Suburban accessed and used Mrs. McPherson’s consumer reports. 

37. That same day, Suburban submitted a credit application to Ally Financial Inc. 

(“Ally”) and to Capital One Auto Finance (“Capital One”) on behalf of Mrs. 

McPherson. 

38. The credit application submitted by Suburban to Ally was for a 2020 Cadillac 

XT6.  (See Exhibit 2 – Adverse Action Notice from Ally). 

39. Mrs. McPherson did not apply for a 2020 Cadillac XT6. 

40. Suburban submitted the credit application for a 2020 Cadillac XT6 to Ally 

without her knowledge or consent. 

41. On July 9, 2020, Suburban called Mrs. McPherson and told her that Ally 

would finance the 2017 Dodge Durango. 

42. That same day, Mrs. McPherson returned to Suburban and met with Mr. 

Parker to execute the contract and pick up the vehicle. 

43. Mrs. McPherson filled-out all the necessary documents to purchase the 2017 

Dodge Durango. 

44. The Finance Manager, Melissa Garner (“Ms. Garner”), told Mrs. McPherson 

that she was approved for financing of the 2017 Dodge Durango at an APR of 

17%, with a Finance Charge of $17,263.71, an Amount Financed of 
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$26,915.04, a down payment of $2,000.00 netting a Total Sale Price of 

$46,178.75.  

45. Mrs. McPherson said that she told Mr. Parker on July 8, 2020 that she could 

only afford a $1,000.00 down payment. 

46. Ms. Garner told Mrs. McPherson that she had to make a $2,000.00 down 

payment because Ally was requiring her to do so. 

47. Ms. Garner agreed to accept a $1,000.00 down payment on July 9, 2020 

provided that Mrs. McPherson put an additional $1,000.00 down on or before 

July 23, 2020. 

48. Ms. Garner told Mrs. McPherson that she could not opt out of the GAP 

Insurance, that it was required, and charged Mrs. McPherson $375.00 for a 

Gap Insurance Policy through IAS Direct. 

49. Ms. Garner told Mrs. McPherson that she could not opt out of the Vehicle 

Service Contract, that it was required, and charged Mrs. McPherson $949.00 

for a five-year Vehicle Service Contract through Road Star Service. 

50. Mrs. McPherson insured the vehicle through Meemic Insurance Company. 

51. Suburban provided TILA disclosures to Mrs. McPherson on the face of the 

retail installment sales contract that Mrs. McPherson and Suburban executed. 

52. Ms. Garner told Mrs. McPherson that her first installment loan payment of 

$589.05 would be due on or before August 24, 2020. 

Case 2:20-cv-13152-SDD-RSW   ECF No. 1, PageID.11   Filed 12/01/20   Page 11 of 30



 

53. Suburban informed Mrs. McPherson in the paperwork and verbally that 

Suburban would assign the loan to Ally and that she would make her payments 

to Ally. 

54. On page four of the Retail Sales Installment Contract, the contract identifies 

Ally Financial Inc. as the assignee:  

 

55. On July 9, 2020, Mrs. McPherson and Suburban executed the purchase 

documents and Mrs. McPherson paid $1,000.00 towards the down payment 

via her credit card. 

56. On July 9, 2020, Suburban delivered the vehicle to Mrs. McPherson. 

57. Upon execution of the purchase documents, Suburban transferred the lien on 

the vehicle to Ally Financial. 

58. That same day, Mrs. McPherson drove off the dealership lot in the vehicle 

with paperwork establishing that she had purchased the vehicle. 

59. On July 15, 2020, Capital One Auto Finance (“Capital One”) issued an 

Adverse Action Notice to Mrs. McPherson in relation to the July 8, 2020 

credit application submitted by Suburban.  (See Exhibit 3 – Adverse Action 

Notice from Capital One July 15, 2020). 
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60. On July 21, 2020, the Michigan Secretary of State issued to Mrs. McPherson 

the Certificate of Title for the 2017 Dodge Durango and identified Ally as the 

First Secured Party. 

61. On July 22, 2020, Ally issued an Adverse Action Notice to Mrs. McPherson 

in response to the credit application for the purchase or lease for a 2020 

Cadillac XT6.  (See Exhibit 2 – Adverse Action Notice from Ally). 

62. On July 23, 2020, Mrs. McPherson visited the dealership for a second time 

since signing the contract on July 9, 2020 and paid another $1,000.00 towards 

the down payment in cash. 

63. Sometime after August 1, 2020, Mrs. McPherson called Ms. Garner to inquire 

about the fact that she still had not received any instructions for how and to 

whom to make her installment loan payments.  Ms. Garner did not answer the 

phone and Mrs. McPherson left a voicemail message. 

64. Sometime after August 1, 2020, Mrs. McPherson called and spoke to Ms. 

Garner about the Adverse Action Notices she was receiving. 

65. Ms. Garner told Mrs. McPherson to disregard the denial letters, that due to 

COVID, the Ally system was behind with updating information and that she 

was approved by Ally.  

66. On August 26, 2020, Suburban again forwarded a credit application to Capital 

One, purportedly on behalf of Mrs. McPherson, requesting new credit.   
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67. Mrs. McPherson had not requested any such new credit, and Suburban had 

falsified that credit application to Capital One. (See Exhibit 4 – Adverse 

Action Notice from Capital One September 2, 2020). 

68. On August 29, 2020, Ms. Garner called Mrs. McPherson and informed her 

that there was "good news" and "bad news."   

69. Specifically, that the bad news was that Ally would not approve the deal as 

contracted.   

70. And further that Dort Financial was willing to finance the deal with an APR 

of 4.5% provided that Mrs. McPherson increased her down payment from 

$2,000 to $3,000 and executed a new retail installment contract. 

71. The new retail installment contract that Suburban was proposing included an 

additional changed term, an arbitration clause.   

72. The July 9, 2020 contract that Mrs. McPherson had executed did not include 

an arbitration clause. 

73. During that call, Ms. Garner told Mrs. McPherson to return to the dealership 

and execute the new contract immediately. 

74. Mrs. McPherson said she needed to think about it and consider the changed 

terms in the new proposed contract compared to the contract she had already 

executed on July 9, 2020. 
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75. On September 2, 2020, Capital One Auto Finance issued an Adverse Action 

Notice to Mrs. McPherson in response to a credit application submitted by 

Suburban on August 26, 2020.  (See Exhibit 4 – Adverse Action Notice from 

Capital One September 2, 2020). 

76. On September 4, 2020, Mrs. McPherson transferred insurance coverage from 

Meemic Insurance Company to Progressive Insurance. 

77. On September 5, 2020, Mrs. McPherson paid $112.53 for September 

insurance coverage to Progressive Insurance. 

78. On September 14, 2020, Mrs. McPherson called Ally to find out how to make 

her payment. 

79. Ally informed Mrs. McPherson that it had no record of her loan having been 

assigned to Ally. 

80. On September 14, 2020, Mrs. McPherson called Suburban and was again told 

that she needed to come to the dealership and sign the new contract. 

81. On September 14, 2020, Ms. Garner emailed Mrs. McPherson a link to the 

new loan agreement. 

82. Mrs. McPherson was very distressed about the continued insistence by 

Suburban that she execute a new contract. 

83. Mrs. McPherson wanted Suburban to honor the July 9, 2020 contract. 
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84. On October 5, 2020, Mrs. McPherson paid $112.53 for October insurance 

coverage to Progressive Insurance. 

85. On October 5, 2020, the salesman that Mrs. McPherson spoke to at the time 

of sale, Charles Parker (“Mr. Parker”) texted Mrs. McPherson and told her 

that he just found out what was going on and asked her to give him a call. 

86. Around October 6, 2020, Mr. Parker called Mrs. McPherson's mother looking 

for Mrs. McPherson. 

87. On October 6, 2020, Mr. Parker texted Mrs. McPherson again and again asked 

her to call him. 

88. On October 7, 2020, the Operations and General Manager for Suburban, Mina 

Boyles (“Mr. Boyles”), called Mrs. McPherson and left her a voicemail stating 

that the matter was "urgent," and requesting a return call. 

89. Around October 8, 2020, Mr. Boyles told Mrs. McPherson that on August 29, 

2020 she had signed a contract that contained an arbitration clause.   

90. During that conversation, Mrs. McPherson informed Mr. Boyles that she had 

not signed a contract on August 29, 2020, that she had only signed a contract 

on July 9, 2020. 

91. On October 12, 2020, Mrs. McPherson sent a letter to Ms. Garner and Mr. 

Boyles via email again requesting that they honor the July 9, 2020 contract 

and provide her with information to send her installment loan payments.   
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92. In that same letter, Mrs. McPherson also stated that she has received several 

Adverse Action Notices and that the salesperson told her to disregard those, 

and further that she has seen several inquiries on her credit file and she is 

concerned about impact to her credit score of those unauthorized credit pulls.   

93. In that same letter, she also pointed out that the new contract the dealership 

offered her, although with some better terms, included an arbitration clause 

and that her research indicated that such a clause would be a waiver of her 

rights and that she was concerned about this new requirement.   

94. Mrs. McPherson stated that she would be willing to execute the new contract 

without the arbitration clause. 

95. On October 13, 2020, Mr. Boyles called Mrs. McPherson and stated that he 

had spoken to the executive manager and that the bottom line was that she 

must sign a new contract inclusive of an arbitration clause. 

96. On October 15, 2020, Mrs. McPherson spoke to Mr. Boyles and again asked 

how she could direct her installment loan payments to the dealership in light 

of Ally’s refusal to accept payments.     

97. During that call, Mr. Boyles told Mrs. McPherson that if she did not sign a 

new contract, they would repossess the vehicle.   
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98. Mrs. McPherson told Mr. Boyles that she wanted to keep the contract she 

executed on July 9, 2020 and again asked where she could direct installment 

loan payments.  

99. Mr. Boyles told Mrs. McPherson that Suburban would not accept her 

payments. 

100. Sometime on or before October 15, 2020, Suburban hired T&H Towing & 

Recovery, LLC (“T&H”) to repossess the 2017 Dodge Durango. 

101. On October 15, 2020, Suburban texted Mrs. McPherson that an order was put 

in for repossession of the vehicle through T&H.   

102. T&H is owned and operated by Matthew James Ferney (“Mr. Ferney”) who 

controls its day-to-day operations and compliance procedures. 

103. T&H and Mr. Ferney have previously been sued for participating in a spot 

delivery and assisting another dealership in illegally taking vehicle in 

violation of Michigan law, and over the lawful objection of the consumers 

who purchased those vehicles.   (Brown v. Crestview Cadillac, Inc., ED MI, 

Case No. 2:19-cv-11900-NGE-DRG.) 

104. At the time that Suburban hired T&H, Mrs. McPherson was ready, willing, 

and able to make payments as they had agreed, and Suburban and Ally refused 

to accept those payments.  
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105. Mrs. McPherson objected to the repossession in her responsive text message 

and asked that the vehicle not be taken. 

106. On October 17, 2020, T&H located the vehicle and began the process of 

hooking the car to its wrecker. 

107. There were two repossession agents present at the repossession. 

108. Mrs. McPherson objected to the repossession.  

109. One of the agents told Mrs. McPherson that all she had to do was sign the 

contract and an additional $1,000.00 or hand over the keys.  

110. Suburban and T&H then took the vehicle from Mrs. McPherson. 

111. Neither Suburban nor T&H had any right to possess the vehicle. 

112. Neither Suburban nor T&H were acting on behalf of any individual or entity 

with the right to possess the vehicle. 

113. Suburban and T&H illegally retook possession without the permission of Mrs. 

McPherson or other legal authorization. 

114. Suburban’s and T&H’s actions in taking possession of the vehicle was willful 

or intentional, and in derogation of the contract of sale. 

115. Neither Suburban nor T&H had a present right to the vehicle at the time that 

T&H took the vehicle. 
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116. On October 23, 2020, Mrs. McPherson returned the current finance manager, 

Mike Brown’s (“Mr. Brown”), phone call and he informed her that of her 

down payment, the dealership used $900.00 to repossess the vehicle. 

117. Further, that there was a remainder of $1,100.00 that some or all could be 

returned to her if she handed over the vehicle's title. 

118. Mrs. McPherson became very distressed and upset during that phone call and 

asked to excuse herself because she was so upset. 

119. On October 26, 2020, Mr. Brown called and texted Mrs. McPherson again 

requesting she hand over the vehicle's title. 

120. On October 27, 2020, Mr. Brown again texted Mrs. McPherson requesting 

that she hand over the vehicle's title. 

121. On October 28, 2020, Mrs. McPherson texted Mr. Brown and stated that she 

objected to the repossession and that she was not willing to hand over the 

vehicle's title. 

122. Suburban never sent an adverse action notice to Mrs. McPherson. 

123. The value of the vehicle as contracted for delivery was $24,139.00. 

124. Suburban received the vehicle from T&H and has secreted the vehicle from 

Mrs. McPherson since its repossession. 
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COUNT I -- TRUTH IN LENDING ACT (SUBURBAN) 

125. At all relevant times Suburban -- in the ordinary course of its business -- 

regularly extended or offered consumer credit for which a finance charge is, 

or may be imposed or which, by written agreement is payable in more than 4 

installments and is the person to whom the transaction which is the subject of 

this action is initially payable, and is a "creditor" under TILA, 15 U.S.C. § 

1602(f) and regulation Z § 226.2(a)(17). 

126. Suburban holds a license as a retail instalment seller of motor vehicles under 

to M.C.L. § 492.101 et seq. 

127. Suburban identifies itself as the "creditor" every credit transaction which 

engages where it executes a retail installment sales contract with a customer. 

128. The TILA disclosures provided by Suburban failed to disclose that Suburban 

would retake the vehicle if Suburban could not find a willing assignee. 

129. This undisclosed term operated as a "Demand Feature" for purposes of the 

TILA. 

130. The TILA required Suburban to disclose any demand feature along with the 

other segregated disclosures. 

131. Suburban failed to disclose this Demand Feature. 

132. Suburban's failure to disclose that Suburban would retake the vehicle if 

Suburban could not find a willing assignee rendered the TILA disclosures 
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provided by Suburban to be illusory and not "meaningful" for purposes of the 

TILA. 

133. Suburban imposed charges for GAP insurance, which was not meaningfully 

disclosure as voluntary, and was in fact required by the dealer. 

134. Suburban should have included the Gap Insurance and Road Star contracts in 

the amount financed of the vehicle and should have instead disclosed the 

charges for these contracts as a finance charge. 

135. The TILA disclosures provided were illusory and not meaningful be reason of 

the misrepresentations made by Suburban which were at odds with 

Suburban’s intent to treat the deal as conditional. 

136. Because the contract was conditioned on the funding of the transaction, and 

Mrs. McPherson was required to pay insurance until then, the fees paid for 

insurance constituted a finance charge which was not disclosed as such by 

Suburban. 

137. Mrs. McPherson has suffered damages as a result of this violation of the 

TILA. 
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Count II -- EQUAL CREDIT OPPORTUNITY ACT (SUBURBAN) 

138. Suburban holds a license as a retail installment seller of motor vehicles under 

M.C.L. § 492.101 et seq. 

139. Suburban identifies itself as the "creditor" every credit transaction which 

engages where it executes a retail installment sales contract with a customer. 

140. Suburban participates in credit decisions in relation to its credit customers. 

141. Suburban regularly participates in the profit generated by credit contracts in 

the form of "dealer participation" or "reserve" amounts. 

142. No third party has the authority to direct Suburban to execute any particular 

retail installment sales contract, including the one envisioned between 

Suburban and Mrs. McPherson. 

143. Following the receipt of the complete application for credit by Mrs. 

McPherson, Suburban was required to make a credit decision within 30 days. 

144. Based upon that credit application Suburban granted credit to Mrs. 

McPherson; alternatively, Suburban knew that it intended to treat the 

agreement as conditional and ultimately Suburban denied credit to Mrs. 

McPherson. 

145. After granting credit, Suburban revoked credit from Mrs. McPherson; 

alternatively, Suburban denied credit to Mrs. McPherson. 
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146. That revocation of credit constituted adverse action for purposes of the 

ECOA.; alternatively, that denial of credit constituted adverse action. 

147. Suburban failed to issue the adverse action notice to Mrs. McPherson which 

the ECOA requires of users of consumer credit reports who take adverse 

action. 

148. Upon information and belief, Suburban has no policies or procedures in place 

to comply with the ECOA's adverse action notice. 

149. This failure to issue an adverse action notice constituted a negligent violation 

of the ECOA, 15 U.S.C. § 1682 by CCI. 

150. Mrs. McPherson submitted a credit application to Suburban relating to the 

acquisition of the vehicle. 

151. Suburban was required under ECOA to take action on Mrs. McPherson’s 

credit application within 30 days. 

152. Suburban initially informed Mrs. McPherson that the credit application 

submitted by her had been approved. 

153. At the time that Suburban informed Mrs. McPherson that the credit 

application was approved, Suburban knew that the credit application had not 

been finally acted upon, and that Suburban would treat the approval as 

conditional. 

154. Suburban later revoked the approval. 
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155. The initial credit approval by Suburban was false and Suburban knew the 

notice to be false at the time it was issued. 

156. The false credit approval by Suburban was false and therefore in violation of 

the ECOA. 

157. Mrs. McPherson has suffered damages as a result of this violation of the 

ECOA. 

Count III -- FAIR CREDIT REPORTING ACT IMPERMISSIBLE ACCESS (SUBURBAN) 

158. Suburban impermissibly accessed Mrs. McPherson’s consumer reports 

following the consummation of the credit sale of the Dodge Durango to Mrs. 

McPherson, after Suburban had made its credit decision concerning Mrs. 

McPherson’s purchase of the Durango. 

159. This impermissible access of Mrs. McPherson’s consumer report constituted 

a negligent violation of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681o by Suburban; 

alternatively, this impermissible access of Mrs. McPherson’s consumer report 

constituted a willful violation of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681n by Suburban. 

160. Mrs. McPherson suffered damages as a result of this violation of the FCRA. 

Count IV -- MAGNUSON-MOSS WARRANTY ACT (SUBURBAN) 

161. Mrs. McPherson is a consumer as defined in 15 U.S.C. § 2301(3). 

162. Suburban provided a written warranty as to the passage of title. 
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163. Suburban provided an implied warranty as to the passage of title. 

164. Suburban breached its warranties of title. 

165. Suburban has violated 15 U.S.C. § 2304. 

166. Mrs. McPherson has suffered damages as a result of these breaches of 

warranty and failure to provide a remedy under 15 U.S.C. § 2304(d). 

Count V -- MOTOR VEHICLE SALES FINANCE ACT (SUBURBAN) 

 
167. This claim is brought under the Michigan Motor Vehicle Sales Finance Act 

("MVSFA"), M.C.L. § 492.101 et seq. 

168. Suburban failed to properly include in the retail installment contract each and 

every one of the material terms of the installment sale, and omitted the single 

most relevant term, namely whether the deal was final or conditional, in 

violation of M.C.L. § 492 112(a). 

169. Suburban has illegally retained Mrs. McPherson’s down payment, in violation 

of the MVSFA. 

170. Suburban improperly required Mrs. McPherson to purchase GAP insurance 

and failed to make the proper disclosures and secure voluntary consent. 

171. Mrs. McPherson suffered damages as a result of this violation of the MVSFA. 
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Count VI -- MICHIGAN CREDIT REFORM ACT (SUBURBAN) 

172. This claim is brought under the Michigan Credit Reform Act ("MCRA"), 

M.C.L. § 445.1851 et seq. 

173. Suburban is a regulated lender within the meaning of the MCRA, M.C.L. § 

445.1851 et seq. 

174. Suburban retained Mrs. McPherson’s down payment contrary to law as a fee. 

175. Suburban imposed fees upon Mrs. McPherson which are in excess of those 

authorized by the MCRA, M.C.L. § 445.1851 et seq.  

176. As properly calculated, Suburban imposed an annual APR which exceeded 

the limit allowed by the MCRA for motor vehicle installment contracts. 

177. Mrs. McPherson suffered damages as a result of this violations of the MCRA. 

Count VII -- UCC ARTICLE 9 (SUBURBAN) 

 
178. This claim is brought under Article 9 of the revised Uniform Commercial 

Code, M.C.L. § 440.9101 et seq. 

179. Suburban effected this repossession wrongfully, and without legal right. 

180. As a result of this wrongful repossession, Suburban was proceeding in 

violation of Article 9 of the UCC, M.C.L. § 440.9609. 
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181. Suburban failed to comply with the requirements of Article 9 of the UCC in 

relation to the disposition of the vehicle and notices to be sent to Ms. 

McPherspon. 

182. Suburban imposed charges in relation to the repossession that exceeded those 

permitted by Article 9. 

183. Mrs. McPherson suffered the damages as a result of this violation of Article 9 

of the UCC. 

Count VIII -- MICHIGAN COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT (SUBURBAN) 

184. Suburban is a "regulated person" for purposes of the Michigan Regulation of 

Collection Practices Act ("MRCPA"), M.C.L. § 445.251(g). 

185. Mrs. McPherson is a consumer for purposes of the MRCPA, M.C.L. § 

445.251(d). 

186. Suburban has violated the provisions of the MRCPA. 

187. These violations of the MRCPA were willful. 

188. Mrs. McPherson have suffered damages as a result of these violations of the 

Michigan Collection Practices Act. 

Count IX -- STATUTORY CONVERSION M.C.L. § 600.2919A (SUBURBAN AND 

T&H) 

189. Suburban and T&H violated the Conversion provisions of the Michigan 

Revised Judicature Act, M.C.L. § 600.2919a. 
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190. Suburban and T&H acted willfully and intentionally in these violations. 

191. Mrs. McPherson suffered damages as a result of this violation of M.C.L. § 

600.2919a. 

Count X -- FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT (T&H) 

192. T&H violated the provisions of the FDCPA. 

193. Mrs. McPherson suffered damages as a result of these violations of the 

FDCPA. 

Count XI -- MICHIGAN OCCUPATIONAL CODE (T&H) 

194. T&H violated the Michigan Occupational Code (“MOC”), M.C.L. Section 

339.901 et seq. 

195. Mrs. McPherson suffered damages as a result of these violations of the MOC. 

196. These violations of the MOC were willful. 

Jury Demand 

 
197. Tina McPherson demands a jury trial in this case. 

Request for Relief 

 
198. Mrs. McPherson requests that the Court grant the following relief: 

a. Assume jurisdiction over this case including all supplemental claims. 

b. Actual damages for items including emotional distress, mental anguish, 

frustration, humiliation, and embarrassment. 
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c. Award statutory and punitive damages.  

d. Award statutory costs and attorney fees. 

e. Grant any other appropriate relief within the Court’s jurisdiction.  

 

Respectfully Submitted, 
 
By:  s/ Sylvia S. Bolos 
Sylvia S. Bolos P78715 
Ian B. Lyngklip P47173 
LYNGKLIP & ASSOCIATES,  
CONSUMER LAW CENTER, PLC  
Attorney for Tina McPherson 
418 N. Main St., Ste 200 
Royal Oak, MI 48067 
(248) 208-8864 
SylviaB@ConsumerLawyers.com 

 

Dated: December 1, 2020 
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	Jurisdiction
	1. This court has jurisdiction under the Truth in Lending Act, 15 U.S.C. §1601 et seq.; Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C.  § 1681 et seq.; Equal Credit Opportunity Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1691 et seq.; and Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C.  § ...
	2. This court may exercise supplemental jurisdiction over the related state law claims arising out of the same nucleus of operative facts which give rise to the Federal law claims under 28 U.S.C. § 1367.

	Parties
	3. Plaintiff to this lawsuit is Tina McPherson who resides in Ypsilanti, MI.
	4. The Defendants to this lawsuit are as follows:
	a. Suburban Ann Arbor, LLC ("Suburban"), which does business as “Suburban Chevrolet Cadillac,” and which is a corporation doing business in Michigan at 3515 Jackson Rd, Ann Arbor MI 48103, and whose resident agent c/o Michigan Department of State - Co...
	b. T&H Towing and Recovery, LLC (“T&H”) which is a Michigan Company.
	c. Matthew James Ferney (“Mr. Ferney”), a Michigan Resident and the owner and operator of T&H Towing and Recovery, LLC.
	5. At all relevant times Suburban -- in the ordinary course of its business -- operated a motor vehicle sales establishment which in the ordinary course of business sold motor vehicles to consumers like Mrs. McPherson.
	At all relevant times T&H and Mr. Ferney -- in the ordinary course of its business – engaged in the activities of repossessing vehicles from consumers as a “recovery” business and “debt collector” for purposes of 15 U.S.C.  § 1692f(6).

	Venue
	6. The transactions and occurrences which give rise to this action occurred in Washtenaw County, Michigan.
	7. Mrs. McPherson is a citizen of the State of Michigan and resides in Washtenaw County.
	8. Venue is proper in the Eastern District of Michigan.

	Introduction
	9. This case arises out of a common dealer scam known as “Yo-Yo Sales” or “Spot Delivery” of vehicles.
	10. A “Yo-Yo” sale occurs when a dealer sells a car to a consumer under an installment sale contract but later demands that the consumer return the vehicle because the dealer claims that financing fell through. In some extreme cases, the dealer will r...
	11. Once the dealer has retaken the vehicle, the consumer is left in a vulnerable position with no car, no money for a down payment, and no trade in vehicle. The dealer takes advantage of this compromised position – one of the dealer’s own making – to...
	12. If the dealer cannot secure the terms they demand, it simply cancels the consumer’s deal without returning the client’s down payment or trade in.
	13. No matter what the dealer chooses to demand or provide to the consumer, the dealership treats its binding contractual obligations with the consumer as conditional, hinging upon the dealer’s ability to resell the fully-executed installment contract...
	14. At the time of the sale, the dealer knows that it intends to retake the vehicle if the dealer cannot sell the installment contract for the dealer’s desired price but withholds this information from the consumer and does not make disclosures approp...
	15. Consistent with this view of the conditional nature of the sale, dealers treat re- takings of these vehicles as falling within the dealers’ legal rights because they do not view the sale as complete or binding until the dealer has successfully sol...
	16. For purposes of these fraudulent transactions, dealers effectively represent to consumers that these deals are complete at the time of the transaction, provided the vehicle, all necessary paperwork, and all the trappings of ownership. Specifically,
	a. the credit obligations under which the consumers agree to pay for these vehicles are unconditional in nature and fully executed;
	b. all required insurance is secured and paid for by the consumer;
	c. the dealer prepares and executes an application for title, certifying to the secretary of state under penalty of perjury that it has delivered the vehicle to the consumer and will apply for title; and
	d. any necessary down payment or trade in is provided to the consumer.
	17. The State of Michigan deems vehicle transactions to be complete upon delivery of the vehicle and execution of the sale documents.  Although a transfer of title to a vehicle generally indicates a transfer of ownership, under the motor vehicle code,...
	18. The state of Michigan also views “Yo-Yo” sales or “Spot Deliveries” as an illegal practice, having promulgated a number of opinion letters, manuals and warnings.
	19. Notwithstanding the clear directives concerning the finality of a sale once the dealer has executed sale documents with the consumer, dealers who engage in “Yo-Yo” scams view all sales transactions as inchoate and conditional for their own purposes.
	20. Specifically, it is the purpose of the Truth in Lending Act (TILA), 15 U.S.C. § 1601 et seq. to assure a meaningful disclosure of credit terms so that the consumer will be able to compare more readily the various credit terms available to him and ...
	21. It is the function of the ECOA to provide consumers with clear and unambiguous notice of whether or not credit has been extended, and if such credit is denied or revoked, to inform the consumer of the reasons for denial. This function furthers the...
	22. Dealers who are skilled in the practice may retrieve the customer several times, wearing down the consumer’s sales resistance to these pressure tactics, until the dealer has maximized his profits from the consumer.  All the while the dealer retain...
	23. As a result of this practice, the informed negotiation process mandated by TILA is supplanted in favor of a dealer-controlled, high pressure sales ploy. In addition to the adverse effects that this fraud works upon individual consumers, the unredr...
	24. In these scams, dealer may provide the consumer with numerous disclosures of the cost of credit, but only the dealer knows which terms he will ultimately accept as binding.  The improper use of the TILA disclosures combined with contradictory cont...
	25. These frauds are facilitated through the knowing presentation of false transactions which they frequently engaged in and improve consumer's confidence in these financial transactions.
	26. By the same token, the firm requirements of the ECOA which mandate that a credit decision be made by the Dealer within 30 days of receiving a complete application, and that the dealer provide an accurate notice of what the credit decision was.
	27. The entirety of this practice is predicated upon false representations to the consumer about the nature of the transaction/s he will be entering into, the dealer's efforts to obtain financing, the conditions of the extension of credit, the consume...
	28. These practices are further supported through the cooperation and assistance of towing and recovery companies who assist the dealers in retaking the cars which are the lawful property to the consumers, and for which the dealers have no legal right...
	29. Filed supplementary to the violations of the TILA are plaintiff’s claims arising out of defendant’s violations of various Michigan statutes, all arising from the same nucleus of operative facts.

	General Allegations
	30. On July 8, 2020, Tina McPherson walked into Suburban Ann Arbor, LLC (“Suburban”) in Ann Arbor, MI to purchase a vehicle and spoke to salesman Charles Parker (“Mr. Parker”).
	31. Mrs. McPherson told Mr. Parker she was interested in a vehicle that had third-row seating.
	32. Mrs. McPherson told Mr. Parker that she could only make a $1,000.00 down payment.
	33. Mr. Parker told Mrs. McPherson that he had a suitable SUV for her but that she could not see it due to COVID and pandemic cleaning protocols.
	34. Mr. Parker told Mrs. McPherson that she could apply then and there, and that in the meantime the dealership would clean the vehicle and that the dealership would call her the next day when the vehicle was ready for her to pick up.
	35. That same day, Mrs. McPherson applied for financing to purchase a used 2017 Dodge Durango.
	36. Suburban accessed and used Mrs. McPherson’s consumer reports.
	37. That same day, Suburban submitted a credit application to Ally Financial Inc. (“Ally”) and to Capital One Auto Finance (“Capital One”) on behalf of Mrs. McPherson.
	38. The credit application submitted by Suburban to Ally was for a 2020 Cadillac XT6.  (See Exhibit 2 – Adverse Action Notice from Ally).
	39. Mrs. McPherson did not apply for a 2020 Cadillac XT6.
	40. Suburban submitted the credit application for a 2020 Cadillac XT6 to Ally without her knowledge or consent.
	41. On July 9, 2020, Suburban called Mrs. McPherson and told her that Ally would finance the 2017 Dodge Durango.
	42. That same day, Mrs. McPherson returned to Suburban and met with Mr. Parker to execute the contract and pick up the vehicle.
	43. Mrs. McPherson filled-out all the necessary documents to purchase the 2017 Dodge Durango.
	44. The Finance Manager, Melissa Garner (“Ms. Garner”), told Mrs. McPherson that she was approved for financing of the 2017 Dodge Durango at an APR of 17%, with a Finance Charge of $17,263.71, an Amount Financed of $26,915.04, a down payment of $2,000...
	45. Mrs. McPherson said that she told Mr. Parker on July 8, 2020 that she could only afford a $1,000.00 down payment.
	46. Ms. Garner told Mrs. McPherson that she had to make a $2,000.00 down payment because Ally was requiring her to do so.
	47. Ms. Garner agreed to accept a $1,000.00 down payment on July 9, 2020 provided that Mrs. McPherson put an additional $1,000.00 down on or before July 23, 2020.
	48. Ms. Garner told Mrs. McPherson that she could not opt out of the GAP Insurance, that it was required, and charged Mrs. McPherson $375.00 for a Gap Insurance Policy through IAS Direct.
	49. Ms. Garner told Mrs. McPherson that she could not opt out of the Vehicle Service Contract, that it was required, and charged Mrs. McPherson $949.00 for a five-year Vehicle Service Contract through Road Star Service.
	50. Mrs. McPherson insured the vehicle through Meemic Insurance Company.
	51. Suburban provided TILA disclosures to Mrs. McPherson on the face of the retail installment sales contract that Mrs. McPherson and Suburban executed.
	52. Ms. Garner told Mrs. McPherson that her first installment loan payment of $589.05 would be due on or before August 24, 2020.
	53. Suburban informed Mrs. McPherson in the paperwork and verbally that Suburban would assign the loan to Ally and that she would make her payments to Ally.
	54. On page four of the Retail Sales Installment Contract, the contract identifies Ally Financial Inc. as the assignee:
	55. On July 9, 2020, Mrs. McPherson and Suburban executed the purchase documents and Mrs. McPherson paid $1,000.00 towards the down payment via her credit card.
	56. On July 9, 2020, Suburban delivered the vehicle to Mrs. McPherson.
	57. Upon execution of the purchase documents, Suburban transferred the lien on the vehicle to Ally Financial.
	58. That same day, Mrs. McPherson drove off the dealership lot in the vehicle with paperwork establishing that she had purchased the vehicle.
	59. On July 15, 2020, Capital One Auto Finance (“Capital One”) issued an Adverse Action Notice to Mrs. McPherson in relation to the July 8, 2020 credit application submitted by Suburban.  (See Exhibit 3 – Adverse Action Notice from Capital One July 15...
	60. On July 21, 2020, the Michigan Secretary of State issued to Mrs. McPherson the Certificate of Title for the 2017 Dodge Durango and identified Ally as the First Secured Party.
	61. On July 22, 2020, Ally issued an Adverse Action Notice to Mrs. McPherson in response to the credit application for the purchase or lease for a 2020 Cadillac XT6.  (See Exhibit 2 – Adverse Action Notice from Ally).
	62. On July 23, 2020, Mrs. McPherson visited the dealership for a second time since signing the contract on July 9, 2020 and paid another $1,000.00 towards the down payment in cash.
	63. Sometime after August 1, 2020, Mrs. McPherson called Ms. Garner to inquire about the fact that she still had not received any instructions for how and to whom to make her installment loan payments.  Ms. Garner did not answer the phone and Mrs. McP...
	64. Sometime after August 1, 2020, Mrs. McPherson called and spoke to Ms. Garner about the Adverse Action Notices she was receiving.
	65. Ms. Garner told Mrs. McPherson to disregard the denial letters, that due to COVID, the Ally system was behind with updating information and that she was approved by Ally.
	66. On August 26, 2020, Suburban again forwarded a credit application to Capital One, purportedly on behalf of Mrs. McPherson, requesting new credit.
	67. Mrs. McPherson had not requested any such new credit, and Suburban had falsified that credit application to Capital One. (See Exhibit 4 – Adverse Action Notice from Capital One September 2, 2020).
	68. On August 29, 2020, Ms. Garner called Mrs. McPherson and informed her that there was "good news" and "bad news."
	69. Specifically, that the bad news was that Ally would not approve the deal as contracted.
	70. And further that Dort Financial was willing to finance the deal with an APR of 4.5% provided that Mrs. McPherson increased her down payment from $2,000 to $3,000 and executed a new retail installment contract.
	71. The new retail installment contract that Suburban was proposing included an additional changed term, an arbitration clause.
	72. The July 9, 2020 contract that Mrs. McPherson had executed did not include an arbitration clause.
	73. During that call, Ms. Garner told Mrs. McPherson to return to the dealership and execute the new contract immediately.
	74. Mrs. McPherson said she needed to think about it and consider the changed terms in the new proposed contract compared to the contract she had already executed on July 9, 2020.
	75. On September 2, 2020, Capital One Auto Finance issued an Adverse Action Notice to Mrs. McPherson in response to a credit application submitted by Suburban on August 26, 2020.  (See Exhibit 4 – Adverse Action Notice from Capital One September 2, 20...
	76. On September 4, 2020, Mrs. McPherson transferred insurance coverage from Meemic Insurance Company to Progressive Insurance.
	77. On September 5, 2020, Mrs. McPherson paid $112.53 for September insurance coverage to Progressive Insurance.
	78. On September 14, 2020, Mrs. McPherson called Ally to find out how to make her payment.
	79. Ally informed Mrs. McPherson that it had no record of her loan having been assigned to Ally.
	80. On September 14, 2020, Mrs. McPherson called Suburban and was again told that she needed to come to the dealership and sign the new contract.
	81. On September 14, 2020, Ms. Garner emailed Mrs. McPherson a link to the new loan agreement.
	82. Mrs. McPherson was very distressed about the continued insistence by Suburban that she execute a new contract.
	83. Mrs. McPherson wanted Suburban to honor the July 9, 2020 contract.
	84. On October 5, 2020, Mrs. McPherson paid $112.53 for October insurance coverage to Progressive Insurance.
	85. On October 5, 2020, the salesman that Mrs. McPherson spoke to at the time of sale, Charles Parker (“Mr. Parker”) texted Mrs. McPherson and told her that he just found out what was going on and asked her to give him a call.
	86. Around October 6, 2020, Mr. Parker called Mrs. McPherson's mother looking for Mrs. McPherson.
	87. On October 6, 2020, Mr. Parker texted Mrs. McPherson again and again asked her to call him.
	88. On October 7, 2020, the Operations and General Manager for Suburban, Mina Boyles (“Mr. Boyles”), called Mrs. McPherson and left her a voicemail stating that the matter was "urgent," and requesting a return call.
	89. Around October 8, 2020, Mr. Boyles told Mrs. McPherson that on August 29, 2020 she had signed a contract that contained an arbitration clause.
	90. During that conversation, Mrs. McPherson informed Mr. Boyles that she had not signed a contract on August 29, 2020, that she had only signed a contract on July 9, 2020.
	91. On October 12, 2020, Mrs. McPherson sent a letter to Ms. Garner and Mr. Boyles via email again requesting that they honor the July 9, 2020 contract and provide her with information to send her installment loan payments.
	92. In that same letter, Mrs. McPherson also stated that she has received several Adverse Action Notices and that the salesperson told her to disregard those, and further that she has seen several inquiries on her credit file and she is concerned abou...
	93. In that same letter, she also pointed out that the new contract the dealership offered her, although with some better terms, included an arbitration clause and that her research indicated that such a clause would be a waiver of her rights and that...
	94. Mrs. McPherson stated that she would be willing to execute the new contract without the arbitration clause.
	95. On October 13, 2020, Mr. Boyles called Mrs. McPherson and stated that he had spoken to the executive manager and that the bottom line was that she must sign a new contract inclusive of an arbitration clause.
	96. On October 15, 2020, Mrs. McPherson spoke to Mr. Boyles and again asked how she could direct her installment loan payments to the dealership in light of Ally’s refusal to accept payments.
	97. During that call, Mr. Boyles told Mrs. McPherson that if she did not sign a new contract, they would repossess the vehicle.
	98. Mrs. McPherson told Mr. Boyles that she wanted to keep the contract she executed on July 9, 2020 and again asked where she could direct installment loan payments.
	99. Mr. Boyles told Mrs. McPherson that Suburban would not accept her payments.
	100. Sometime on or before October 15, 2020, Suburban hired T&H Towing & Recovery, LLC (“T&H”) to repossess the 2017 Dodge Durango.
	101. On October 15, 2020, Suburban texted Mrs. McPherson that an order was put in for repossession of the vehicle through T&H.
	102. T&H is owned and operated by Matthew James Ferney (“Mr. Ferney”) who controls its day-to-day operations and compliance procedures.
	103. T&H and Mr. Ferney have previously been sued for participating in a spot delivery and assisting another dealership in illegally taking vehicle in violation of Michigan law, and over the lawful objection of the consumers who purchased those vehicl...
	104. At the time that Suburban hired T&H, Mrs. McPherson was ready, willing, and able to make payments as they had agreed, and Suburban and Ally refused to accept those payments.
	105. Mrs. McPherson objected to the repossession in her responsive text message and asked that the vehicle not be taken.
	106. On October 17, 2020, T&H located the vehicle and began the process of hooking the car to its wrecker.
	107. There were two repossession agents present at the repossession.
	108. Mrs. McPherson objected to the repossession.
	109. One of the agents told Mrs. McPherson that all she had to do was sign the contract and an additional $1,000.00 or hand over the keys.
	110. Suburban and T&H then took the vehicle from Mrs. McPherson.
	111. Neither Suburban nor T&H had any right to possess the vehicle.
	112. Neither Suburban nor T&H were acting on behalf of any individual or entity with the right to possess the vehicle.
	113. Suburban and T&H illegally retook possession without the permission of Mrs. McPherson or other legal authorization.
	114. Suburban’s and T&H’s actions in taking possession of the vehicle was willful or intentional, and in derogation of the contract of sale.
	115. Neither Suburban nor T&H had a present right to the vehicle at the time that T&H took the vehicle.
	116. On October 23, 2020, Mrs. McPherson returned the current finance manager, Mike Brown’s (“Mr. Brown”), phone call and he informed her that of her down payment, the dealership used $900.00 to repossess the vehicle.
	117. Further, that there was a remainder of $1,100.00 that some or all could be returned to her if she handed over the vehicle's title.
	118. Mrs. McPherson became very distressed and upset during that phone call and asked to excuse herself because she was so upset.
	119. On October 26, 2020, Mr. Brown called and texted Mrs. McPherson again requesting she hand over the vehicle's title.
	120. On October 27, 2020, Mr. Brown again texted Mrs. McPherson requesting that she hand over the vehicle's title.
	121. On October 28, 2020, Mrs. McPherson texted Mr. Brown and stated that she objected to the repossession and that she was not willing to hand over the vehicle's title.
	122. Suburban never sent an adverse action notice to Mrs. McPherson.
	123. The value of the vehicle as contracted for delivery was $24,139.00.
	124. Suburban received the vehicle from T&H and has secreted the vehicle from Mrs. McPherson since its repossession.

	Count I -- Truth In Lending Act (Suburban)
	125. At all relevant times Suburban -- in the ordinary course of its business -- regularly extended or offered consumer credit for which a finance charge is, or may be imposed or which, by written agreement is payable in more than 4 installments and i...
	126. Suburban holds a license as a retail instalment seller of motor vehicles under to M.C.L. § 492.101 et seq.
	127. Suburban identifies itself as the "creditor" every credit transaction which engages where it executes a retail installment sales contract with a customer.
	128. The TILA disclosures provided by Suburban failed to disclose that Suburban would retake the vehicle if Suburban could not find a willing assignee.
	129. This undisclosed term operated as a "Demand Feature" for purposes of the TILA.
	130. The TILA required Suburban to disclose any demand feature along with the other segregated disclosures.
	131. Suburban failed to disclose this Demand Feature.
	132. Suburban's failure to disclose that Suburban would retake the vehicle if Suburban could not find a willing assignee rendered the TILA disclosures provided by Suburban to be illusory and not "meaningful" for purposes of the TILA.
	133. Suburban imposed charges for GAP insurance, which was not meaningfully disclosure as voluntary, and was in fact required by the dealer.
	134. Suburban should have included the Gap Insurance and Road Star contracts in the amount financed of the vehicle and should have instead disclosed the charges for these contracts as a finance charge.
	135. The TILA disclosures provided were illusory and not meaningful be reason of the misrepresentations made by Suburban which were at odds with Suburban’s intent to treat the deal as conditional.
	136. Because the contract was conditioned on the funding of the transaction, and Mrs. McPherson was required to pay insurance until then, the fees paid for insurance constituted a finance charge which was not disclosed as such by Suburban.
	137. Mrs. McPherson has suffered damages as a result of this violation of the TILA.

	Count II --  Equal Credit Opportunity Act (Suburban)
	138. Suburban holds a license as a retail installment seller of motor vehicles under M.C.L. § 492.101 et seq.
	139. Suburban identifies itself as the "creditor" every credit transaction which engages where it executes a retail installment sales contract with a customer.
	140. Suburban participates in credit decisions in relation to its credit customers.
	141. Suburban regularly participates in the profit generated by credit contracts in the form of "dealer participation" or "reserve" amounts.
	142. No third party has the authority to direct Suburban to execute any particular retail installment sales contract, including the one envisioned between Suburban and Mrs. McPherson.
	143. Following the receipt of the complete application for credit by Mrs. McPherson, Suburban was required to make a credit decision within 30 days.
	144. Based upon that credit application Suburban granted credit to Mrs. McPherson; alternatively, Suburban knew that it intended to treat the agreement as conditional and ultimately Suburban denied credit to Mrs. McPherson.
	145. After granting credit, Suburban revoked credit from Mrs. McPherson; alternatively, Suburban denied credit to Mrs. McPherson.
	146. That revocation of credit constituted adverse action for purposes of the ECOA.; alternatively, that denial of credit constituted adverse action.
	147. Suburban failed to issue the adverse action notice to Mrs. McPherson which the ECOA requires of users of consumer credit reports who take adverse action.
	148. Upon information and belief, Suburban has no policies or procedures in place to comply with the ECOA's adverse action notice.
	149. This failure to issue an adverse action notice constituted a negligent violation of the ECOA, 15 U.S.C. § 1682 by CCI.
	150. Mrs. McPherson submitted a credit application to Suburban relating to the acquisition of the vehicle.
	151. Suburban was required under ECOA to take action on Mrs. McPherson’s credit application within 30 days.
	152. Suburban initially informed Mrs. McPherson that the credit application submitted by her had been approved.
	153. At the time that Suburban informed Mrs. McPherson that the credit application was approved, Suburban knew that the credit application had not been finally acted upon, and that Suburban would treat the approval as conditional.
	154. Suburban later revoked the approval.
	155. The initial credit approval by Suburban was false and Suburban knew the notice to be false at the time it was issued.
	156. The false credit approval by Suburban was false and therefore in violation of the ECOA.
	157. Mrs. McPherson has suffered damages as a result of this violation of the ECOA.

	Count III --  Fair Credit Reporting Act Impermissible Access (Suburban)
	158. Suburban impermissibly accessed Mrs. McPherson’s consumer reports following the consummation of the credit sale of the Dodge Durango to Mrs. McPherson, after Suburban had made its credit decision concerning Mrs. McPherson’s purchase of the Durango.
	159. This impermissible access of Mrs. McPherson’s consumer report constituted a negligent violation of the FCRA, 15 U.S.C. § 1681o by Suburban; alternatively, this impermissible access of Mrs. McPherson’s consumer report constituted a willful violati...
	160. Mrs. McPherson suffered damages as a result of this violation of the FCRA.

	Count IV --  Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act (Suburban)
	161. Mrs. McPherson is a consumer as defined in 15 U.S.C. § 2301(3).
	162. Suburban provided a written warranty as to the passage of title.
	163. Suburban provided an implied warranty as to the passage of title.
	164. Suburban breached its warranties of title.
	165. Suburban has violated 15 U.S.C. § 2304.
	166. Mrs. McPherson has suffered damages as a result of these breaches of warranty and failure to provide a remedy under 15 U.S.C. § 2304(d).

	Count V --  Motor Vehicle Sales Finance Act (Suburban)
	167. This claim is brought under the Michigan Motor Vehicle Sales Finance Act ("MVSFA"), M.C.L. § 492.101 et seq.
	168. Suburban failed to properly include in the retail installment contract each and every one of the material terms of the installment sale, and omitted the single most relevant term, namely whether the deal was final or conditional, in violation of ...
	169. Suburban has illegally retained Mrs. McPherson’s down payment, in violation of the MVSFA.
	170. Suburban improperly required Mrs. McPherson to purchase GAP insurance and failed to make the proper disclosures and secure voluntary consent.
	171. Mrs. McPherson suffered damages as a result of this violation of the MVSFA.

	Count VI --  Michigan Credit Reform Act (Suburban)
	172. This claim is brought under the Michigan Credit Reform Act ("MCRA"), M.C.L. § 445.1851 et seq.
	173. Suburban is a regulated lender within the meaning of the MCRA, M.C.L. § 445.1851 et seq.
	174. Suburban retained Mrs. McPherson’s down payment contrary to law as a fee.
	175. Suburban imposed fees upon Mrs. McPherson which are in excess of those authorized by the MCRA, M.C.L. § 445.1851 et seq.
	176. As properly calculated, Suburban imposed an annual APR which exceeded the limit allowed by the MCRA for motor vehicle installment contracts.
	177. Mrs. McPherson suffered damages as a result of this violations of the MCRA.

	Count VII --  UCC Article 9 (Suburban)
	178. This claim is brought under Article 9 of the revised Uniform Commercial Code, M.C.L. § 440.9101 et seq.
	179. Suburban effected this repossession wrongfully, and without legal right.
	180. As a result of this wrongful repossession, Suburban was proceeding in violation of Article 9 of the UCC, M.C.L. § 440.9609.
	181. Suburban failed to comply with the requirements of Article 9 of the UCC in relation to the disposition of the vehicle and notices to be sent to Ms. McPherspon.
	182. Suburban imposed charges in relation to the repossession that exceeded those permitted by Article 9.
	183. Mrs. McPherson suffered the damages as a result of this violation of Article 9 of the UCC.

	Count VIII --  Michigan Collection Practices Act (Suburban)
	184. Suburban is a "regulated person" for purposes of the Michigan Regulation of Collection Practices Act ("MRCPA"), M.C.L. § 445.251(g).
	185. Mrs. McPherson is a consumer for purposes of the MRCPA, M.C.L. § 445.251(d).
	186. Suburban has violated the provisions of the MRCPA.
	187. These violations of the MRCPA were willful.
	188. Mrs. McPherson have suffered damages as a result of these violations of the Michigan Collection Practices Act.

	Count IX --  Statutory Conversion M.C.L. § 600.2919a (Suburban and T&H)
	189. Suburban and T&H violated the Conversion provisions of the Michigan Revised Judicature Act, M.C.L. § 600.2919a.
	190. Suburban and T&H acted willfully and intentionally in these violations.
	191. Mrs. McPherson suffered damages as a result of this violation of M.C.L. § 600.2919a.

	Count X --  Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (T&H)
	192. T&H violated the provisions of the FDCPA.
	193. Mrs. McPherson suffered damages as a result of these violations of the FDCPA.

	Count XI --  Michigan Occupational Code (T&H)
	194. T&H violated the Michigan Occupational Code (“MOC”), M.C.L. Section 339.901 et seq.
	195. Mrs. McPherson suffered damages as a result of these violations of the MOC.
	196. These violations of the MOC were willful.

	Jury Demand
	197. Tina McPherson demands a jury trial in this case.

	Request for Relief
	198. Mrs. McPherson requests that the Court grant the following relief:
	a. Assume jurisdiction over this case including all supplemental claims.
	b. Actual damages for items including emotional distress, mental anguish, frustration, humiliation, and embarrassment.
	c. Award statutory and punitive damages.
	d. Award statutory costs and attorney fees.
	e. Grant any other appropriate relief within the Court’s jurisdiction.


